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State of Missouri

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SAFETY, 
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 07-1577 PO



)

LEMOYNE G. THOMAS,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION 


Lemoyne G. Thomas is subject to discipline because he committed the criminal offenses of executing a scheme to defraud a financial institution and using an unauthorized access device with intent to defraud.  
Procedure


The Director of the Department of Public Safety (“the Director”) filed a complaint on September 24, 2007, seeking this Commission’s determination that Thomas is subject to discipline.  Though Thomas received a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint on November 28, 2007, he did not file an answer.


This Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on May 12, 2008.  Assistant Attorney General Theodore Bruce represented the Director.  Though we notified Thomas of the date and time of the hearing, neither Thomas nor anyone representing him appeared.  

At the hearing, counsel for the Director agreed to a briefing schedule following preparation of the transcript.  Although we issued a written order scheduling briefs due on 
May 27, 2008, neither party filed a brief.  
Findings of Fact


1.  Thomas holds a Class A peace officer license.  


2.  Thomas knowingly submitted a fraudulent credit application to Bank of America.  The credit application was submitted on behalf of an entity called T.J. Cycling and More (“T.J. Cycling”).  The credit application misrepresented several material facts regarding T.J. Cycling, and these misrepresentations induced Bank of America to approve the credit application and issue a credit card.  After the credit application was approved, Bank of America issued a Bank of America Platinum Visa credit card, account number ending in 2173, to T.J. Cycling with a credit limit of $25,000.  Under the terms of the fraudulent application, Thomas was authorized to use the credit card.  


3.  Thomas used the credit card to take a cash advance in the amount of $6,000, which he paid as a kickback payment to a Bank of America employee in exchange for the approval of the fraudulent application.  


4.  Between November 2005 and approximately January 2006, Thomas knowingly and with intent to defraud used the Bank of America Visa credit card to obtain things of value in excess of $1,000, said use being in and affecting interstate commerce.  

5.  On October 19, 2006, a grand jury returned an indictment in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri, charging Thomas and Pearletha Phillips-Washington with:  

Count I:   knowingly and willfully conspiring between themselves and with others to execute a scheme and artifice to defraud Bank of America, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 
§§ 371 and 1344.
Count II:   knowingly executing a scheme and artifice to defraud Bank of America by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, namely withdrawing $6,000 from a fraudulently obtained line of credit, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 2 and 1344.
Count III:   knowingly and without authorization using Bank of America Visa card account number ending in 2173 to obtain things of value in excess of $1,000, said use being in and affecting interstate commerce, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1029.

Counts IV and V brought additional charges against Phillips-Washington and did not involve Thomas.  


6.  On January 11, 2007, Thomas signed a “Plea Agreement, Guidelines, Recommendations and Stipulations.”    


7.  On March 22, 2007, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri entered its judgment, finding that Thomas pled guilty to Count III of the indictment.  The United States dismissed Counts I and II.
  The court placed Thomas on probation and ordered him to make restitution.  
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the Director’s complaint.
  The Director has the burden of proving facts for which the law allows the Director to discipline Thomas as set forth in the complaint.
  The complaint circumscribes our decision because it gives Thomas notice of the facts and law at issue, without which we cannot find cause for discipline.

I.  Criminal Offense

The Director cites § 590.080.1(2), which allows discipline when someone:  
[h]as committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed[.] 

The Director offered into evidence three exhibits from the criminal case, and we received the exhibits into evidence.  Exhibit 1 is the United States District Court’s judgment.  Exhibit 2 is the plea agreement, guidelines, recommendations and stipulations from the criminal case.  Exhibit 3 is the indictment.  The Director offered no testimony or other evidence, with the exception of an affidavit of licensure and a letter that are attached to the complaint.    
A.  Conspiracy
18 U.S.C. § 371 provides:  
If two or more persons conspire either to commit any offense against the United States, or to defraud the United States, or any agency thereof in any manner or for any purpose, and one or more of such persons do any act to effect the object of the conspiracy, each shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.  

The Director asserts the following conduct:  

On or about November 9, 2005 Respondent along with another opened up a line of credit with Bank of America for T.J. Cycling and More, a non-existent company.  Further Respondent misrepresented his annual income, took out a $6,000 cash advance which was paid to the Bank of America employee who helped facilitate the credit application, and used the open line of credit to purchase items over $1,000.  These acts violated Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371, 1344, 2, and 1029(a)(2).[
]  


The complaint provides Due Process notice, as required by the United States and Missouri Constitutions, to the licensee of the grounds on which a licensing agency seeks 
discipline.
  The Director’s complaint asserts that Thomas opened up a line of credit “along with another,” and the federal indictment asserts that Thomas acted in concert with Pearletha Phillips-Washington.  However, there is nothing in the stipulated facts with Thomas’ plea agreement that proves this, and there is no other evidence in the record that proves this.  The Director’s complaint does not set forth sufficient facts to allege a conspiracy between Thomas and the bank employee.
  We find no cause for discipline for committing the criminal offense of conspiracy.   
B.  Use of Unauthorized Access Device with Intent to Defraud

18 U.S.C. § 1029(a) provides:  
Whoever—

*   *   * 

(2) knowingly and with intent to defraud traffics in or uses one or more unauthorized access devices during any one-year period, and by such conduct obtains anything of value aggregating $1,000 or more during that period;

*   *   * 

Shall, if the offense affects interstate or foreign commerce, be punished as provided in subsection (c) of this section.  

A credit card is an access device.


The Director’s complaint asserts that Thomas “pled guilty to three counts of fraud.”  As we explained in Footnote 2, this assertion is incorrect.  However, as stated in Findings 5 and 7, Thomas pled guilty to Count III of the indictment, which asserted that Thomas knowingly and without authorization used Bank of America Visa card account number ending in 2173 to obtain things of value in excess of $1,000, said use being in and affecting interstate commerce, in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1029.  A guilty plea is evidence of the conduct charged and constitutes an “admission,” which the defendant may explain.
  Thomas did not file an answer and did not appear for the hearing, and thus has submitted nothing to deny that he committed the crime to which he pled guilty.  

The stipulation in the criminal case also supports the elements of the offense.  The stipulation asserts that the conduct occurred between November 2005 and approximately January 2006, whereas the indictment asserts that the conduct occurred “From in or about November 2005 to in or about December 2006.”  We have made our findings of fact in accordance with the stipulation.

Thomas’ guilty plea and the stipulation in the criminal case show that Thomas committed the criminal offense of use of an unauthorized access device with the intent to defraud.
  There is cause to discipline Thomas under § 590.080.1(2).

C.  Executing a Scheme to Defraud a Financial Institution

18 U.S.C. § 1344 provides:  

Whoever knowingly executes, or attempts to execute, a scheme or artifice—

(1) to defraud a financial institution; or

(2) to obtain any of the moneys, funds, credits, assets, securities, or other property owned by, or under the custody or control of, a financial institution, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises;
shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.  


The Director’s complaint asserts that Thomas misrepresented his annual income and opened a line of credit for a non-existent company.  Although the stipulation in the criminal case is not that specific, it shows that Thomas knowingly submitted a fraudulent credit application to Bank of America, that the application misrepresented several material facts regarding T.J. Cycling, and that these misrepresentations induced Bank of America to approve the credit application and issue a credit card, and we have made findings of fact accordingly.    Further, Thomas used the credit card to take a cash advance in the amount of $6,000 and pay a kickback to a Bank of America employee in exchange for the approval of the fraudulent application.  Thomas thus committed the criminal offense of executing a scheme to defraud a financial institution.  There is cause to discipline Thomas under § 590.080.1(2).
II.  Act While on Active Duty or Under Color of Law

The Director cites § 590.080.1(3), which allows discipline when someone:  

[h]as committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]

The record contains no evidence that Thomas’ acts were committed while on active duty or under color of law.  We find no cause for discipline under § 590.080.1(3).  
Summary


Thomas is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(2).

SO ORDERED on August 7, 2008.



________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR.


Commissioner

	�Our Findings of Fact 2, 3 and 4 are based on the guilty plea and the stipulations set forth in the “Plea Agreement, Guidelines, Recommendations and Stipulations.”  The Director’s complaint asserts that Thomas pled guilty to three counts of fraud.  The complaint is incorrect, as Exhibit 1 shows that Thomas pled guilty to Count III and that Counts I and II were dismissed.  Counts IV and V were against Phillips-Washington and did not involve Thomas; thus, they were not part of the plea agreement with Thomas and the judgment against Thomas.  


	�Section 590.080.1.  Statutory references are to RSMo Supp. 2007 unless otherwise noted.


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm'n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


	�Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Arch'ts, Prof'l Eng'rs & Land Surv'rs, 744 S.W.2d 524, 538-39 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  


	�Compl. at 2.


	�Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Arch’ts, Prof’l Eng’rs & Land Surv’rs, 744 S.W.2d 524, 538-39 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988). 


	�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.350(2)(A).    


	�United States v. Kowal, 527 F.3d 741, 748 (8th Cir. 2008); 18 U.S.C. § 1029(e)(1).  


	�Nichols v. Blake, 418 S.W.2d 188, 190 (Mo. 1967).  


	�The Director’s complaint also cites 18 U.S.C. § 2, which defines when a defendant is punishable as a principal.  We conclude that Thomas committed the offense, and 18 U.S.C. § 2 adds nothing to the discussion.  


� The Director’s complaint cites his Regulation 11 CSR 75-13.090, which provides that the phrase “committed any criminal offense” includes a person who has “pled guilty to, been found guilty of, or been convicted of any criminal offense.”  As we have explained in other decisions, we base our decision on the statutes, and the Director did not have the authority to promulgate the regulation.  E.g., Director of Public Safety v. Reed, No. 07-0753 PO (July 30, 2008); Director of Public Safety v. Morrissey, No. 07-0756 PO (July 23, 2008).  
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